RECEIVED

Apr 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Daniel Coble, Chief Administrative Judge

Civil Action No.: 2026-CP-40-00645

Appellate Case No.: 2026-000348

Ubong Christopher Ubokudom.....Appellant,

v.

University of South CarolinaRespondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ubong Christopher Ubokudom P.O. Box 1594 Columbia, SC 29202 (*Pro Se Appellant*)

Jacob Alan Biltoft 3700 Forest Dr., Suite 404, Columbia, SC 29204 (*Counsel for Respondent*)

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court err in failing to grant emergency relief when Respondent's own sworn affidavits and subsequent Deemed Admissions conclusively established that Appellant was 'accepted and registered for classes,' thereby creating a ministerial duty for the court to **enjoin the Respondent from continuing to report factually and legally inconsistent enrollment data** to third-party agencies?
2. Did the Trial Court's failure to hold a hearing on an Emergency TRO for over 70 days constitute a **constructive denial** of access to the courts, effectively extinguishing Appellant's constitutional right to a 'speedy remedy' under **S.C. Const. Art. I, § 9**?
3. **Denial of Constitutional Right to Remedy:** Did the Trial Court err and violate S.C. Const. Art. I, § 9 by failing to hold a hearing on an Emergency TRO over 70 days, thereby denying Appellant a "speedy remedy" for an ongoing harm?
4. **Failure to Recognize Deemed Admissions (Rule 36):** Did the Trial Court err by failing to recognize that Respondent's total failure to answer Requests for Admission resulted in "Deemed Admissions" under Rule 36, SCRCF, which resolved all factual disputes regarding Appellant's registration and the inaccuracy of the reporting to LSAC? (R. at 86-90.), (R. at 91.), (R. at 92-95.), (R. at 96-97.), (R. at 98-101.), (R. at 102-119.).
5. **Breach of Ministerial Duty:** Does a state institution have a non-discretionary, ministerial duty to accurately report a student's status as "registered" when that institution has admitted that fact in a sworn affidavit and via operation of Rule 36?
6. **Error in Withholding Injunctive Relief:** Did the Trial Court err by refusing to grant a TRO or Preliminary Injunction when the Deemed Admissions removed all factual disputes, establishing a "likelihood of success on the merits" as a matter of law?
7. Did the Trial Court err by failing to grant emergency relief where the record—specifically the Respondent's own internal communications—establishes that the refusal to correct the records was an intentional and outrageous act of administrative gatekeeping, performed with the knowledge that it would professionally 'destroy' Appellant's career and interfere with the protection of a minor child, thereby meeting the threshold for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress as a matter of law?
8. **Failure to Order Repayment of \$961.00:** Did the Trial Court err by failing to order the immediate return of the \$961.00 payment, given that the Deemed Admissions establish

the Respondent failed to fulfill its contractual obligation to provide an accurate record to LSAC?

9. **The "Promissory Estoppel" Issue:** Did the Trial Court err in failing to enjoin the Respondent from withholding records after Respondent accepted a \$961.00 payment under the specific promise of release, thereby establishing a claim for Promissory Estoppel and Breach of Contract accompanied by a Fraudulent Act?
10. Did the Trial Court err by failing to recognize that Respondent's total failure to answer Requests for Admission resulted in "Deemed Admissions" under Rule 36, SCRCF, which resolved all factual disputes requiring that the pleadings accurately reflect the harm inflicted on the Appellant and his minor daughter, and that the motion for leave to amend the second complaint and the motion for leave to supplement the second complaint should be adopted; did this administrative delay constitute an abuse of discretion by preventing and /or delaying the amendment and supplementation of pleadings that are now supported by settled facts?
11. Whether the Trial Court committed an abuse of discretion and an error of law by failing to grant leave to amend and supplement the Complaint under Rule 15, SCRCF, where the underlying facts are now conclusively established by operation of Rule 36, SCRCF; thus rendering the proposed amendments essential to align the pleadings with the established evidence, narrowing the remaining triable issues solely to the assessment of damages and thereby necessitating updated pleadings to reflect the current legal posture of the case and facilitate an expedited trial on damages?
12. **Failure to Expedite Final Judgment:** Did the Trial Court err by failing to hold a status conference or expedite the trial when the only remaining issue, following the Deemed Admissions, is the assessment of damages?
13. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Grant a Preliminary Injunction Where Likelihood of Success is Established by Deemed Admissions?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. This appeal arises from an emergency petition for a Writ of Mandamus and Injunctive Relief, filed on February 17, 2026. Appellant sought to compel the University of South Carolina (USC) to accurately report his enrollment status as "Registered/Withdrawn" rather than "Never Enrolled." Despite Appellant providing physical evidence of enrollment (University ID (R. at 192.) and Housing Contract) and Respondent admitting to his registration in sworn affidavits, the Trial Court failed to hold a timely hearing or grant relief, causing Appellant to miss critical Law School Admission Council (LSAC) deadlines.
2. On February 17, 2026, appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus after a Motion for an Emergency Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) was denied due lack of proof of

service in the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County. The action sought to compel the Respondent, the University of South Carolina (“USC”), to correct its administrative records and cease the defamatory reporting of appellant as “Never Enrolled” to the Law School Admission Council (LSAC).

3. On February 13, 2026, the trial court issued an order denying the Emergency TRO on procedural grounds, citing a lack of proof of service. Despite the Trial Court's citation of a lack of service, the Court's own electronic notification records on February 13, 2026, confirm that Respondent was duly served, rendering the procedural denial an error of fact. However, Respondent had been served, which was evident in the electronic notifications represented in the Judge's orders on February 13, 2026. (R. at 41-45) and (R. at 33-40.)
4. Plaintiff filed another Renewed Emergency TRO (R. at 46-53,) on February 13, 2026, however, following the trial court's failure to schedule an emergency hearing and the subsequent administrative paralysis in the lower court, Appellant sought relief from this Court via an Emergency Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Motion for TRO on February 17, 2026. Despite Appellant's repeated attempts—totaling no fewer than fifteen (15) separate communications—to coordinate a briefing schedule and hearing with Respondent's counsel, Respondent remained non-responsive until the filing of its Return for the emergency petition for a Writ of Mandamus on February 27, 2026. (R. at 54-84.)
5. On February 20, 2026, Appellant filed a motion to leave to amend a Second Amended Complaint and on February 25, 2026 the Appellant filed a motion to leave to supplement the second amended complaint increasing the prayer for relief to \$1,000,000,000.00 to reflect the escalating reputational damage, the destruction of Appellant's professional career path caused by Respondent's continued misrepresentations, and the irreparable harm done to the appellant's minor daughter.
6. Since the inception of the lower court action on February 13, 2026, Appellant has filed no fewer than ten (10) motions—including a motion for a TRO, evidentiary hearing request, amended scheduling and expedited trial, status conference request, and other related motions. Despite the life-altering nature of the deadlines involved (the Fall 2026 Law School admission cycle), the Trial Court has issued a ruling on only two motions, leaving the vast majority of Appellant's prayers for relief unanswered for over 70 days, (Original summons and complaint filed on February 3, 2026). (R. at 146-149.)
7. Additionally, I have sent more than 10 emails asking for the motions to be added to the roster for the May 4th hearing and after months the roster was only updated yesterday, on April 16, 2026.
8. Furthermore, the May 4, 2026, hearing offers no guarantee of a meaningful appellate record. Despite Appellant's formal requests to the administrative staff of the Fifth Judicial Circuit to ensure the presence of a court reporter—a necessity for preserving the record on admitted facts—those requests have been met with silence. Without a court reporter, any proceeding on May 4, 2026 would fail to provide a record suitable for review, further

illustrating that the lower court's current path offers an illusory remedy rather than a substantive adjudication of the conclusively established facts.

9. On March 9, 2026, this Court denied Appellant's initial Petition for an Emergency Writ of Mandamus, suggesting that a remedy remained available in the lower court. However, in light of significant new developments, that remedy has proven illusory. (R. at 193-194.)
- 10. Specifically, on April 7, 2026, Respondent's liability became "conclusively established" by operation of Rule 36, SCRPC. Despite this shift from a factual dispute to a settled legal matter, the Trial Court continues to adhere to a scheduling delay that ignores these admissions. This administrative paralysis constitutes a constructive denial of Appellant's right to be heard and a failure to provide the relief now warranted by law.**
11. On April 15, 2026, Appellant filed a Motion for an Amended Scheduling Order and Expedited Trial in the Circuit Court, asserting that because liability is now conclusively established under Rule 36(b), SCRPC, the standard discovery schedule is obsolete and an expedited trial is necessary to prevent the expiration of Appellant's career opportunities.
12. Appellant's attempts to resolve this dispute began in November 2025, when he first notified the University of the urgent need for a corrected transcript to facilitate his law school applications and his preparation for the January 2026 LSAT. Despite being put on notice of these high-stakes academic deadlines, Respondent maintained a demonstrably false record. Consequently, Appellant was forced to sit for the LSAT on January 8, 2026, and the written portion on January 12, 2026, under extreme administrative duress, as he was simultaneously battling the University's bad-faith refusal to report his enrollment status accurately.
13. On April 16, 2026, the Trial Court finally updated the motion roster to include Appellant's pending motions for the hearing on May 4, 2026. However, this setting provides no immediate relief and constitutes an abuse of discretion. Because Respondent's liability and the falsity of its records were **conclusively established on April 7, 2026, under Rule 36(b)**, there is no longer a factual dispute to 'hear.' Every day that passes between the April 7th admissions and a May 4th hearing is a day where Respondent is permitted to maintain a confessed lie on Appellant's record, further jeopardizing the appellant's law school candidacy and federal legal obligations. Where the truth is admitted, justice delayed is justice denied; a hearing set weeks after a conclusive admission is an illusory remedy that fails to address the ongoing, irreparable harm. Setting a hearing nearly a month after a conclusive legal admission—during which time Appellant continues to be barred from academic and professional opportunities—constitutes a constructive denial of due process.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Preliminary Injunction

1. The decision to grant or deny a preliminary injunction is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *County of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 560 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2002). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is "unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *Id.* > To obtain a preliminary injunction, a party must demonstrate: (1) irreparable harm will occur without the injunction; (2) a likelihood of success on the merits; and (3) an inadequacy of a remedy at law. *AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 382 S.C. 43, 674 S.E.2d 505 (Ct. App. 2009). When a trial court fails to grant relief despite a clear showing of these factors—particularly where a likelihood of success is established by judicial admissions—it constitutes an abuse of discretion.
2. Following the Respondent's failure to provide timely or legally sufficient responses to discovery, Appellant filed a **Motion to Determine Sufficiency of Answers/Responses under Rule 36(a), SCRCP (R. at [Page #])**. This motion explicitly requested that the Trial Court formalize the 'deemed admitted' status of facts regarding Appellant's registration and attendance. Despite the clear mandate of the Rules of Civil Procedure, the Trial Court has failed to rule on this motion, allowing the Respondent to continue reporting a 'No Record' status to the LSAC in direct contradiction to the operation of law. (R. at 191.)

B. Writ of Mandamus To obtain a Writ of Mandamus, the Appellant must show: (1) a specific right to the performance of the duty outlined; (2) that the duty is ministerial rather than discretionary; and (3) that no other adequate remedy at law exists. *Redmond v. Lexington County Sch. Dist. No. Four*, 314 S.C. 431, 445 S.E.2d 441 (1994). The grant or denial of a writ of mandamus is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *Gause v. Doe*, 317 S.C. 39, 451 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 1994). Under **Rule 240, SCACR**, this Court maintains the judicial authority to issue Extraordinary Writs, including the Writ of Mandamus, to compel a lower court or public official to perform a ministerial act. To entitle a party to a Writ of Mandamus, there must be (1) a specific legal right, (2) a corresponding neglected duty on the part of the Respondent, and (3) no other adequate legal remedy. *See Redmond v. Lexington Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. Four*, 314 S.C. 431, 445 S.E.2d 441 (1994). *See Ex parte Littlefield*, 343 S.C. 212, 540 S.E.2d 81 (2000). A Writ of Mandamus is the proper and necessary remedy to compel a public official to perform a ministerial act which that official has otherwise refused to perform. *See Willis v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 293 S.C. 399, 360 S.E.2d 516 (1987). In the present case, the maintenance and certification of accurate enrollment records is a purely ministerial duty of the University Registrar. There is no administrative discretion involved in accurately reporting a student's attendance once the requirements for enrollment and payment have been met. Because the

Respondent has refused to perform this non-discretionary duty despite conclusive evidence of payment and registration, Mandamus must issue to prevent further irreparable harm.

Here, the requirements of Rule 240 are met. The Respondent's duty to maintain accurate records is ministerial and non-discretionary. Because the Trial Court has failed to rule on motions intended to correct admissions that are now established by law, Appellant has no other adequate remedy to prevent the imminent destruction of his professional career. Consequently, the issuance of a Writ under Rule 240 is necessary to ensure the administration of justice.

C. Rule 36 Admissions

The application of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, specifically the conclusive effect of admissions under Rule 36, is a matter of law. Appellate courts review questions of law de novo. *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 662 S.E.2d 40 (2008). **Under Rule 36(b), SCRPC, any matter admitted is "conclusively established" unless the court, on motion, permits withdrawal or amendment of the admission. Because the effect of a "deemed admission" is self-executing and mandatory, an appellate court owes no deference to a trial court's failure to recognize its conclusive effect.**

D. Leave to Amend Pleadings (Rule 15, SCRPC)

The decision to grant or deny a motion to amend a complaint is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *Foggie v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 315 S.C. 17, 431 S.E.2d 587 (1993). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is "controlled by an error of law or is without evidentiary support." *Id.* **Rule 15(a), SCRPC, mandates that leave to amend "shall be freely given when justice so requires." Where the proposed amendments seek to conform the pleadings to facts conclusively established under Rule 36, SCRPC, a refusal to grant leave—or a failure to rule on such a motion—is an abuse of discretion as it prevents the fair and efficient administration of justice.**

E. Constitutional Questions (Access to Courts)

"The determination of the constitutionality of a statute or the deprivation of a constitutional right is a question of law." *State v. Brown*, 317 S.C. 55, 451 S.E.2d 888 (1994). Questions of law are reviewed de novo, and the appellate court may make its own findings of fact in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Polite*, 391 S.C. 275, 705 S.E.2d 78 (Ct. App. 2011).

F. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (IIED)

"Whether the conduct may reasonably be regarded as so extreme and outrageous as to permit recovery is a question for the court." *Shipman v. Glenn*, 314 S.C. 327, 443 S.E.2d 921 (Ct. App. 1994). When a trial court fails to address a claim of outrageous conduct in an emergency posture, the appellate court reviews the legal sufficiency of the claim de novo.

G. Restitution and Unjust Enrichment

"An action for restitution is an equitable claim, and the standard of review for an equitable creation is the much broader de novo standard." *Regions Bank v. Wingard Props., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 715 S.E.2d 348 (Ct. App. 2011). Under this standard, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.

H. Management of the Docket and Expedited Trial

"While a trial court has broad discretion over its docket, an abuse of discretion occurs when the court's failure to act is controlled by an error of law or results in the effective denial of a legal right." Cf. *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 284, 733 S.E.2d 589 (2012). When the underlying facts of a case are conclusively established by operation of law (Rule 36, SCRCPP), the refusal to expedite the remaining proceedings is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are undisputed based on the **Affidavits of the USC Registrar and Bursar (R.-67-69) (R. 80-82)**:

1. Appellant was accepted to the University of South Carolina and **"registered for classes"** for the Spring 2025 semester.
2. Appellant occupied University housing and utilized a University meal plan, incurring a debt of **\$1,922.01**.
3. On January 12, 2026, Appellant and Respondent entered into a structured repayment agreement. Appellant paid **\$961.00** (half the balance) to secure the release of his records.
4. Notwithstanding these admissions of "registration" and "attendance" (via housing and dining), Respondent continues to report to the LSAC that Appellant has **"no enrollment history"** or **"never enrolled."**
5. As sworn to by Elaine Belesky, Interim University Registrar, in her Affidavit dated February 2026 (R. at 67-69.), the University admits that 'Plaintiff... was accepted and registered for classes' for the Spring 2025 semester. Despite this sworn admission from the University's chief records officer, the Respondent continues to communicate a status of 'Never Enrolled' to the Law School Admission Council (LSAC)
6. Conclusive Admissions via Rule 36, SCRCPP On April 7, 2026, several key facts were Deemed Admitted by operation of law due to Respondent's failure to respond to

Appellant's Requests for Admission (Case No. 2026CP4000645). These conclusive admissions include (See (R. at 86-90.)):

- A. Admission of Registration: Respondent admits Appellant was a registered student for the Spring 2025 semester.
- B. Admission of Falsity: Respondent admits that the "Non-Enrollment" letter issued on January 20, 2026, is factually inconsistent with internal University records.
- C. Admission of Consideration: Respondent admits to accepting \$961.00 from Appellant as part of a formal agreement to release transcripts, which Respondent subsequently failed to provide in a usable format to the LSAC.

7. Failure of Judicial Communication and Coordination As documented in the Email Log (R. at 196-200.) (R. at 181-182.) and the Declaration regarding Administrative Delay (R. at 201-202.):

- A. Between February 13, 2026, and the present, Appellant has made more than fifteen (15) attempts to coordinate emergency hearings and motions with the Trial Court's administrative staff.**
- B. The Trial Court's administrative assistants have failed to provide a single substantive response to these scheduling inquiries.**
- C. This lack of communication occurred even after Respondent was Deemed to have Admitted (on April 7, 2026) the core factual allegations of the case, which should have triggered an immediate entry of judgment or relief.**

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