**RECEIVED**

**May 18 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Daniel Coble, Chief Administrative Judge

---

Civil Action No.: 2026-CP-40-00645  
Appeal Number: 2026-000348

---

Ubong Christopher Ubokudom.....Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

University of South Carolina .....Defendant/Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

Ubong Christopher Ubokudom  
[Cubok1@gmail.com](mailto:Cubok1@gmail.com)  
P.O. Box 1594  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
*Pro se* APPELLANT

Jacob A. Biltoft  
[jbiltoft@mckayfirm.com](mailto:jbiltoft@mckayfirm.com)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant attempted to enroll in courses at the University of South Carolina for the spring semester of 2025. [Exhibit 1: Affidavit of Registrar Elaine Belesky]. He was accepted and registered for classes. Ex. 1 at ¶4. Appellant had access to the tuition bill for this Spring 2025 semester beginning on December 18, 2024, via the “Self Service Carolina” student portal. [Exhibit 2: Affidavit of Bursar Nicole Pressley]. The deadline for payment of tuition for the Spring 2025 semester was January 28, 2025. Ex. 2 at ¶5. Appellant submitted partial payment via a federal student loan, with the remainder due in full by January 28, 2025. Ex. 2 at ¶¶7-8.

Appellant did not pay tuition by the deadline January 28, 2025. In full compliance with the standard procedure for non-payment of tuition, Appellant was dropped from class rolls. Ex. 2 at ¶10.

A student removed from class rolls due to non-payment of tuition receives no course grades for that semester. Ex. 2 at ¶10. The tuition, academic fees, and financial aid were thus removed from his account, and his partial loan payment was returned to the lender. Ex. 2 at ¶10. Appellant also incurred a debt to the University for the housing and meal plan utilized by Appellant prior to removal for non-payment, inclusive of an additional late payment fee. Ex. 2 at ¶11.

Due to the outstanding debt, the University placed a hold on the dispersal of any records of Appellant, if any, pursuant to standard procedure. Ex. 2 at ¶12.

A prospective student remains enrolled only after payment of tuition for that semester, so when a student fails to pay tuition, the student will not receive any grade entered for the registered classes that semester. Ex. 1 at ¶5. Appellant was dropped from class rolls since he did not fully pay tuition. Appellant therefore received no grades for his only semester registered at the University. Ex. 1 at ¶7.

On or about January 12, 2026, Appellant agreed to a structured repayment schedule with the University; pursuant to which Appellant agreed to pay half of the outstanding balance immediately and to pay the remainder in six monthly installments. Ex. 2 at ¶13. Immediately upon payment of the first half of the debt on or about January 12, 2026, the University lifted the hold on his account. Ex. 2 at ¶13.

In January of 2026, Appellant requested an official transcript from the University for his prospective law school applications with the Law School Admissions Council (herein “LSAC”). Ex. 1 at ¶8. Upon receipt of this request, the Registrar office discovered the aforementioned hold placed on any release of records due to non-payment of his outstanding room and board bill. Ex. 1 at ¶8. The University eventually accepted a partial payment of the debt and removed the hold, with the Registrar’s office then discovering that Appellant had no transcript for any coursework at the University of South Carolina due to non-payment of tuition for his only semester registered. Ex. 1 at ¶9.

Upon Appellant’s continued requests to send documentation to LSAC after lifting the hold on his account, the University submitted a timely communication to LSAC correctly informing them that Appellant was not enrolled and has no record of graded coursework for his sole semester registered at USC. Ex. 1 at ¶10 and Attachment 3. Though Appellant had transfer credits from another institution, Appellant still never fully enrolled and had no graded coursework at USC.

At the onset of the Circuit Court litigation, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction [Exhibit C], a Motion to Expedite Consideration of the requests for injunctive relief [Exhibit D], and a subsequent “Request for Status Conference Regarding Pending Emergency Motion for TRO,” again seeking an expedited ruling [Exhibit E].

The Circuit Court scheduled a hearing on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction for May 4, 2026, and issued an Order on February 13, 2026 denying Appellant’s Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order, stating that it will not expeditiously issue an emergency TRO without full notice and a hearing “unless it clearly appears from specific facts shown by affidavit or by a verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss or damage will result.” [Exhibit F- Order]. The Court also declined to move the scheduled hearing on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction to an earlier date, again because the Circuit Court found that Plaintiff did not make a sufficient showing of irreparable harm or extraordinary emergency circumstances.

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant fails to show any abuse of discretion on part of the Circuit Court, and this appeal must therefore be dismissed.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The decision to grant temporary injunctive relief is within the sound discretion of the trial court and cannot be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion. *City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 278, 531 S.E.2d 518 (2000). An abuse of discretion occurs only where the trial court is controlled by an error of law or where the trial court's order is based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support. *Id.*

The sole purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the status quo and thus avoid irreparable harm to the moving party. *Powell v. Immanuel Baptist Church*, 261 S.C. 219, 199 S.E.2d 60 (1973). See also *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2001). No temporary restraining order shall be granted without notice of motion for the order to the adverse party unless it clearly appears from specific facts shown by affidavit or by a verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss or damage will result to the applicant before notice can be served **and a hearing had thereon**. Rule 65(b) SCRCP (emphasis added).

A plaintiff's entitlement to preliminary injunctive relief requires the complaint to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for injunction while also showing an injunction must be reasonably necessary to protect the legal rights of the plaintiff pending in the litigation. *County of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 669, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2002). To obtain an injunction, a party must demonstrate (1) irreparable harm, (2) a likelihood of success on the merits, and (3) an inadequate remedy at law. *Id.* Whether to grant a preliminary injunction is left to the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned unless it is clearly erroneous. *Compton v. SCDC*, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

**i. Did the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for Temporary Restraining Order?**

Appellant fails to establish any abuse of discretion because he has not established entitlement to any injunctive relief. An abuse of discretion occurs only where the trial court is controlled by an error of law or where the trial court's order is based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support. *Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. at 282.

Appellant's Initial Brief attempts to also argue a series of other issues, as he appears to be seeking a major overarching ruling on the merits of the entire Circuit Court action, made apparent in his Statement of Issues listing additional items such as disputes over allegedly deficient Request for Admission responses, alleged breach of duty on part of Defendant/Respondent, seeking a refund on payment of his previously-owed housing debt, and an argument over promissory estoppel. See Appellant's Initial Brief at 7. These issues are not before this Court, as this is an appeal of the single three-sentence Order denying a TRO and declining to expedite the hearing on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction.

For the reasons set forth below, this Appeal must be dismissed.

### **A. The issue on appeal is moot**

This Appeal must be dismissed because the issue is moot and no effectual relief can be granted. As mentioned above, this Appeal arises from the denial of a Motion for an Emergency Temporary Restraining Order. The moving party has the burden of showing immediate irreparable harm and that the harm or damage will occur before the Court and parties can have a full hearing and notice period on the matter. Rule 65(b) SCRPC. By rule, Temporary Restraining Orders serve as a short emergency stopgap until all parties and the Court have enough time to have a full hearing on the accompanying Motion for Injunctive Relief. *Id.* When the preliminary injunction motion is heard, “the party who obtained the temporary restraining order shall proceed with the application for a temporary injunction and, if he does not do so, the court shall dissolve the temporary restraining order.” *Id.*

An appellate court will not pass judgment on moot and academic questions; it will not adjudicate a matter when no actual controversy capable of specific relief exists. *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 567, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001). A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy. *Id.* Mootness also arises when some event occurs making it impossible for the reviewing court to grant effectual relief. *Id.*

Here, the Order on appeal is a denial of the Temporary Restraining Order, with the Order also confirming that the Motion for Preliminary Injunction will take place on May 4, 2026. The Court heard that Motion on May 4, 2026, as scheduled and denied any injunctive relief. [Exhibit F: May 8, 2026 Order]. The Circuit Court again found that Appellant did not establish entitlement to injunctive relief following a full hearing on the issue. Thus, any TRO issued previously would then be dissolved by rule. Any attempt to overturn the initial denial Order or the denial of any request to expedite is therefore rendered moot and ineffectual and must be dismissed.

### **B. Appellant cannot establish any abuse of discretion**

Plaintiff does not and cannot establish any abuse of discretion, as he has failed to show that the ruling on appeal was controlled by an error of law or was based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support. Though he has had multiple attempts across both the Circuit Court litigation and the prior Court of Appeals briefing on the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Injunctive Relief, Appellant has continually fallen short of showing grounds for injunctive relief. This Court has even previously agreed with Respondent and ruled that Appellant is not entitled to injunctive relief. See Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Injunctive Relief.

Here, Appellant did not pay tuition by the set deadline. Ex. 2 at ¶9. As a result, he never completed or perfected his enrollment and his registration for that semester was terminated. Ex. 1 at ¶7 and Attachment 1; Ex. 2 at ¶10. To the extent Appellant argues that he is entitled to course grades showing withdrawal from his registered courses marked by an entered grade of “W,” Appellant is not entitled to “W” grades, or any graded coursework due to nonpayment. When a student is enrolled following payment of tuition, the student will receive a grade of “W” if the student affirmatively withdraws themselves from the course via the student portal during the designated time period. Ex. 1 at ¶6.

As set forth above, Appellant has no transcript for University of South Carolina coursework, and is not entitled to one. Further, Respondent has already sent a communication to LSAC accurately informing them that Appellant has no transcript or graded coursework at USC for the sole semester he registered. Ex. 1 at ¶10, and Attachment 3. Granting the relief Appellant seeks would result in Appellant receiving a semester of graded coursework for which he did not pay tuition.

Appellant has plainly failed to establish any irreparable harm or any likelihood of success on the merits. Despite his contentions that allegedly missing this one cycle of law school applications constitutes irreparable harm, this is plainly insufficient to warrant the extraordinary remedies of injunctive relief or mandamus and is fundamentally not irreparable. Plaintiff is free to remove the Respondent from his LSAC account and apply before the alleged upcoming deadlines, or wait one single application cycle and apply for the institutions for which he allegedly missed deadlines. Appellant fails to set forth entitlement to the relief requested.

Appellant also frequently cites his minor child's pending action to try and establish the alleged irreparable harm and the emergent nature of his filings. He references a federal civil action filed on behalf of his daughter, appearing to assert that he seeks this relief from Respondent so that he may represent his daughter and protect her rights in the litigation.

The federal litigation, filed *pro se* by Appellant on behalf of himself and his minor daughter, is wholly irrelevant to the present action or this Respondent. The federal action referenced, bearing the number 3:25-cv-12608-SAL-PJG in the South Carolina District Court, was filed on September 17, 2025, among a multitude of other *pro se* actions filed by Plaintiff over the course of 2025 appearing on the federal court PACER dockets. In the case mentioned by Appellant, he received an Order from the Hon. Magistrate Judge stating that Appellant could represent himself, but he could not represent his daughter in the action, and he had 30 days to secure counsel for his daughter or face dismissal. 3:25-cv-12608-SAL-PJG, ECF No. 13 (October 15, 2025).

Appellant appears to believe that, by applying to law schools in this current round of applications, he will be able somehow be permitted to appear as counsel for his daughter in that case regardless of its current pendency, regardless of any applicable statute of limitations, and regardless of the typical law school timeline taking three years (not including time for application

turnaround, acceptance, and bar exam prep and results). This reference to the daughter's litigation, despite Appellant's insistence, has no bearing on any duty owed by Respondent or any right that Appellant has standing to assert.

In his Brief, Appellant leans very heavily on the assertions that there was some procedural defect in the Respondent's Responses to his Requests to Admission. Appellant served these Requests on March 5, 2026, and Respondent served full Responses on April 2, 2026; clearly within the 30-day period prescribed by Rule 36 SCRCP. [Exhibit G: Request for Admission Responses]; [Exhibit H: Certificate of Service for Plt's RFA]. Defendant's answers were fully responsive, timely, and procedurally sound, with the Circuit Court agreeing so in its May 8, 2026 Order.

Appellant has continually and unsuccessfully argued that the Responses were insufficient under Rule 36 because they are not verified or sworn by a representative/designee of Respondent, and that Respondent has essentially admitted liability. However, a sworn verification is plainly not required for Responses to Requests for Admission.

Appellant now states in his Initial Brief that the Circuit Court failed to consider the alleged admissions by Respondent stemming from alleged "total failure to answer Requests for Admission" resulting in "deemed admissions." Appellant's Initial Brief at 7. Appellant asserts multiple times in his Brief that Respondent failed to answer his Requests for Admission. This is blatantly untrue. Appellant has not shown that the Circuit Court should have relied on allegedly admitted matters in his Requests for Admission, or that Respondent's timely, full Responses were insufficient, untimely, or (as he now suddenly alleges multiple times) non-existent. Further, all discovery in this matter, including the Requests for Admission, was conducted well after the Order being appealed here, and was not a factor whatsoever in the Court's ruling.

Appellant has not identified any error of law or shown that any factual finding by the Circuit Court lacked evidentiary support. Thus, he has failed to establish any abuse of discretion by the Circuit Court.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, this Appeal must be dismissed.